2004

# George M. Lee and Gerald Lee v. Miles Walter Langley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of the Utah Court of Appeals is based on Section 78-2a-3(2)(j) as a case transferred from the Utah Supreme Court.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented for consideration by this Appeal:

1. a. **Issue.** Did the district court err in holding that there was a independent power of arrest in Miles Langley as a Colorado bail enforcement agent under the bail bond contract so that the Utah bond agent licensing statute Section 53-11-107(2), U.C.A., requiring a bond agent to be licensed could be ignored with the result that the court incorrectly instructed the jury on the law of arrest?

b. **Standard of Review.** The trial court's application of law will be reviewed on a correctness standard with instructions to the jury reversed if an instruction was prejudicial in that it misadvised or misled the jury on the law. *Butler v. Naylor*, 1999 UT 86, 987 P.2d 41. Jury instructions are examined in their entirety and will be affirmed if the instruction taken as a whole fairly instructs the jury on the law applicable to the case. *Paulos v. Covenant Transport, Inc.*, 2004 Ut. App. 35, 86 P.3d 752.

2. a. **Issue.** If Defendant Langley was without a right to arrest because he did not have a Utah bail enforcement agent license, did the district court err in dismissing the cause of action for false imprisonment where the jury instructions pertaining to the power to make a lawful arrest were also contrary to law?

b. **Standard of Review.** The trial court's application of law will be reviewed on a correctness standard with instructions to the jury reversed if an instruction was prejudicial in that it misadvised or misled the jury on the law. *Butler v. Naylor*, 1999 UT 86, 987 P.2d 41. Jury instructions are examined in their entirety and will be affirmed if the instruction taken as a whole fairly instructs the jury on the law applicable to the case. *Paulos v. Covenant Transport, Inc.*, 2004 Ut. App. 35, 86 P.3d 752.

3. a. **Issue.** Whether the district court erred as a matter of law in declining to enter a default against Robert Thorpe when he failed to show for trial and had placed no excuse therefor on the record nor had he requested any accommodation of the court.

b. **Standard of Review.** As explained in *Valley Leasing, a Div. of Intermountain Loan Corp. v. Houghton*, 661 P.2d 959 (Utah 1983), the decision on whether a default should have been entered is a matter of discretion of the trial court with this court reviewing to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion.

4. a. **Issue.** Did the trial court err as a matter of law when it ruled that plaintiff George Lee could not testify that he heard Defendant Langley testify in a justice court trial that Langley did not have a Utah bail enforcement agent license?

b. **Standard of Review.** The standard of review in determining whether a court has ruled correctly on evidence is an abuse of discretion standard. *Eggert v. Wasatch Energy Corp.*, 2004 Ut. 28, 94 P.3d 193.

5. a. **Issue.** Did the district court err as a matter of law in refusing to admit into evidence the original of the receipt signed by Robert Thorpe by holding that Plaintiffs failed to show that Robert Thorpe was unavailable so as to not be within an exception to the hearsay rule?

b. **Standard of Review.** The standard of review in determining whether a court has ruled correctly on evidence is an abuse of discretion standard. *Eggert v. Wasatch Energy Corp.*, 2004 Ut. 28, 94 P.3d 193.

#### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

Plaintiffs claim the following controls resolution of the issues presented:

- A. Section 31A-35-601, U.C.A. (1999).
- B. Title 53, Chapter 11, U.C.A. (1999).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. NATURE OF THE CASE.** This is a tort action by two men who were assaulted by a Colorado bail enforcement agent at the home of one of them in Utah for assault, false imprisonment, and negligence or reckless endangerment.

**B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.** The incident which is the subject of this suit occurred on April 2, 1999. The Plaintiffs filed a *pro se* complaint with the Eighth District Court in Uintah County on February 28, 2000. R., p.3. Addendum A All Defendants eventually answered the complaint with Defendant Langley answering *pro se*. (R., p. 22).

Defendant, Ranger Insurance Company subsequently made a Cross-claim on March 7, 2002 against Defendants Thorpe and Langley. (R., p. 114).

In March 2002, current counsel for Plaintiffs appeared for the first time. (R., p. 116). Counsel for Robert Thorpe withdrew. (R., p. 140). The case was configured thereafter with Plaintiffs and Ranger Insurance Company having legal counsel and Defendants Thorpe and Langley acting *pro se*.

Discovery proceeded but Thorpe failed to show for his deposition and sanctions were sought by the Plaintiffs in August, 2002. (R., p. 171). The sanctions were never imposed after representations to the court by the wife of Thorpe that he had health problems. (R., p. 240). However, Thorpe also failed to respond to Request for Admissions. (R., p. 356).

Trial was held before a jury for three days commencing February 2, 2004. During the course of the trial the court dismissed Plaintiffs' cause of action for false imprisonment. (Trial Transcript (TT) at R. p. 1187 at pp. 213-216). The assault and reckless endangerment claims were presented to the jury. (See Jury Instructions R. pp. 1032-1034.)

Robert Thorpe failed to show for the trial. The court denied the request of Plaintiffs to enter his default. (TT at R. p. 1187, p. 34). The court did grant the motion at trial of Defendant Ranger Insurance Company to enter the default of Robert Thorpe on the cross-claim brought by Ranger and later entered a formal order. (R., p. 1261).

This Court entered final judgment upon Plaintiffs' claims on March 17, 2004. (R., p. 1067). A Notice of Appeal was filed April 14, 2004. (R., p. 1143). Subsequently, Ranger Insurance Company caused a formal judgment to be entered against Robert Thorpe upon its cross-claim on October 13, 2004. (R., p. 1261). To be cautious about being sure the new judgment against Thorpe long after trial did not create a new appeal time, a Second Notice of Appeal was filed by Plaintiffs on November 12, 2004.

**C. DISPOSITION OF TRIAL COURT.** A jury verdict of no cause of action was entered against the Plaintiffs on February 4, 2004. (R., p. 1053). The formal judgment followed on March 17, 2004. (R., p. 1067). The judgment rendered was upon Plaintiffs causes for assault and reckless endangerment with the false imprisonment claim having been dismissed at trial as a matter of law.

## **RELEVANT FACTS**

### **A. THE PLAYERS.**

**George Lee**, plaintiff and appellant is a resident of Uintah County, Utah. (Complaint, R., p. 3 and Addendum A).

**Gerald Lee**, plaintiff and appellant, is the brother of George Lee and also resides in Uintah County, Utah. (Complaint, R., p.3).

**Miles Langley** was a past police officer in the Grand Junction Colorado area, a sometimes bar bouncer, and a sometimes bail enforcement agent or bounty hunter. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 58-62).

**Robert Thorpe** was the owner of A-1 Bail Bonds located in Grand Junction, Colorado. His wife, **Maria Thorpe**, was also an agent with him. (Plaintiff Exhibit 2, p. 1. R., p. 999 in Addendum C).

**Ranger Insurance Company** is an insurer operating as a bail bond surety for A-1 Bail Bonds that had entered agency contracts with Robert and Maria Thorpe. Ranger Insurance Company was not licensed to be a bail bond surety within the state of Utah. (TT, R., p. 1187 at 266).

## **B. THE EVENTS.**

Gerald Lee was arrested for driving under the influence and driving without proof of insurance in late 1998 in the Grand Junction, Colorado area. He jailed in Grand Junction Colorado and released on bail issued by A-1 Bail Bonds operated by Robert Thorpe. (Gerald Lee testimony at TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 105-106). Despite posting bail, Gerald missed his court appearances in Colorado. (Lee testimony at TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 109-110).

Langley was hired by Robert Thorpe to go get Gerald Lee for jumping bail. (Langley Testimony, TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 73-78). Thorpe and Langley knew Gerald was in Utah. Langley left Colorado for Utah with the intent of enforcing a Colorado arrest warrant. He first checked in with local police in the Uintah County area and then went alone to the home of George Lee, the brother of Gerald, in Naples, Utah.

Langley knocked on the door and George answered. Langley said he was from Christian Construction Company and was looking for a good mechanic to hire and heard that Gerald was looking for work. George invited him into the house through a door into the kitchen area. Gerald came into the room and Langley again repeated he was from a construction company and had a job for Gerald and extended his hand as if to shake hands. Gerald extended his hand in response and Langley suddenly produced and placed a handcuff on Gerald's arm. Gerald reacted by pushing Langley back and Langley, a very large man, struck Gerald. George reacted to protect his brother and grabbed Langley. The facts diverge here but the Lees say that Langley never said he was a bail enforcement agent and Langley admitted to that in the Answer he filed with the court, Langley Answer, (R., p.22). Lees were reacting to a stranger suddenly attacking Gerald. (See Lee testimony TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 111-118; 189-195).

A short fight followed in which Langley beat up Gerald pretty well and left George unconscious on the floor of the kitchen in a pool of blood. Gerald testified that Langley dragged him out of the house literally by the heels with his head banging on the floor and steps of the porch as he was taken outside to Langley's vehicle. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 117).

George testified that he awoke and called the sheriff's office to report a kidnapping, still unaware Langley claimed to act under any legal authority. The police responded and cited both Langley and the Lees for assault of each other. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 194).

Langley took Gerald to the hospital in Uintah County for examination. A neck brace was placed on him and a general examination of his bruises was made. Gerald was released to the custody of Langley who put Gerald in his pickup truck and took him through a terrible snow storm over dangerous roads back to Grand Junction. Gerald was examined again in a hospital in Grand Junction. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 123-129).

Gerald bailed out of the jail again by using Robert Thorpe. Gerald testified out of the presence of the jury that he saw Thorpe hand Langley the cash for bringing him back to Utah and saw Thorpe execute a receipt for the prisoner and note payment to Langley. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 276-278).

A trial was subsequently held in the Uintah County Justice Court for all three Defendants at the same time. Langley was convicted of assault. George and Gerald Lee were acquitted of any crime. (R. p. 45).

Ranger Insurance Company was the bond surety in Colorado for the Lee bail through A-1 Bail Bonds and Robert Thorpe. (Plaintiff Trial Exhibit 1, R., p. 999). Ranger is not licensed to underwrite bail bonds in Utah. (TT, R., p. 1187 at p. 266).

Plaintiffs brought this action against the Defendants for negligence or reckless conduct, false imprisonment, and assault. (Complaint, R., p. 3 and R., p. 322).

Other significant events occurred just before and during the trial which bear on this appeal. First, Miles Langley died so his testimony was presented by deposition. Second, Robert Thorpe failed to appear for trial. The court denied a motion by the Plaintiffs to have



his default entered but granted the motion in favor of Ranger Insurance Company on their cross-claim for a default in judgment for failure to appear and defend. (Tt. R., p. 1187 at pp. 34 and 227).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Plaintiffs show in this Brief that their trial went awry when the court made a fundamental error in determining that there is common law authority for Colorado bail recovery agent Langley to act in Utah. Once the court decided that, Plaintiffs' false imprisonment claim was dismissed and their assault and reckless endangerment claim became impossible to win because the court instructed the jury that if it found Langley acted for Ranger Insurance Company that Langley had a right to make the arrest and use the appropriate force with that.

This Brief explains that there was no legal right for Langley to act as a bail recovery agent in Utah which has licensing requirements. The court compounded the error by excluding from evidence testimony that Langley admitted to having no Utah license and by excluding from evidence a hand-written receipt Defendant Thorpe created proving that he had hired Langley as an agent to act in his behalf.

Finally, this Brief explains that the court abused its discretion by refusing to default Robert Thorpe for failure to appear at trial where he had a pattern of not participating in the litigation yet the court was willing to enter the default of Thorpe on the cross-claim of the Defendant Ranger Insurance Company.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **A. INTRODUCTION**

This appeal presents extraordinarily interesting legal questions that can safely be said do not arise very often at all. Plaintiffs believe that a primary cause of the adverse jury decision was the way the court interpreted and applied legal principles governing the power to make an arrest. This brief will show that the court committed reversible error in its interpretation of the law and in ruling on two key points of evidence.

### **B. THEORY OF THE CASE**

Plaintiffs presented at trial through the evidence, a trial brief, and jury instructions theories of liability which they believe to be consistent with applicable law. (See R., p. 836 and 985). This Court needs to understand the Plaintiffs' theory of the case at trial in order to appreciate where the trial court went wrong.

Plaintiffs divided facts and legal concepts between each of them at trial because they had a significant difference in their legal status. Gerald Lee was a fugitive from the state of Colorado on a misdemeanor warrant. George Lee had no pending charge in Colorado and the entry and assault took place in George's home. Langley, Thorpe, and Ranger Insurance had no legal authority to be operating in Utah. Consequently, the arrest by Langley was without lawful authority and, in fact, specifically contrary to Utah law. With no lawful authority, the seizure of at least Gerald Lee and, arguably, George Lee by entering his home and knocking him unconscious, presented a valid claim of false

imprisonment. Langley's acts without justification in law eliminated any defenses to his physical force constituting an assault.

Finally, Plaintiffs relied upon a Utah statute that makes a bond surety responsible for acts of the bail enforcement bond agent to impute liability to Ranger Insurance Company. The doctrine of respondeat superior would also apply.

### **C. THERE WAS NO POWER OF ARREST.**

#### **1. Legal Framework.**

With the text contained in Addendum B, the court's attention is drawn to certain specific statutes in the Utah Code that were in effect at the time of this incident. Note that there have been some revisions to Title 77, Chapter 20 since this incident. All references are to Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, in effect in 1999 when the arrest took place.

Specifically, Section 77-20-8.5(2) provides that bond sureties may arrest a defendant at any time before exoneration at any place within the state. Note also that subsection (3) provides that a surety acting under this section is subject to the provisions of Title 53, Chapter 10, discussed below. (Addendum B).

While Title 77 governs criminal arrest procedure, Title 53 governs the licensing and powers of bail enforcement agents. When one turns to Title 53, Chapter 10 as directed by Section 77-20-8.5, it is immediately observed that this statute is wrong in its reference. The appropriate chapter of Title 53 is Chapter 11. That chapter, known as the Bail Bond

Recovery Act, gives a comprehensive legal framework for the business operations of bail bond agents. What jumps out immediately is the fundamental requirement in Section 53-11-107 that there are three classes of licenses and no person may act as a bail enforcement agent or bail recovery agent without holding a Utah license. Section 53-11-108, 109 and 111 go on to set the training and education requirements of bail enforcement agents and bail recovery agents. (See Addendum B).

Title 53, Chapter 11, imposes requirements relevant to this appeal on bail enforcement agents in how they do their job. Section 53-11-120 requires a bail enforcement agent upon request to identify his employer. Section 53-11-122 states that in order to make an arrest a bail enforcement agent shall so identify himself to the person being arrested after notifying local police authority.

An examination of Title 53, Chapter 11, shows that there is no legal authority whatsoever for a person not licensed in Utah to make a bail related arrest. Put simply, there is no exception for Langley enforcing a Colorado warrant in Utah.

The best that could be said for Langley's legal status would that he acted in making a citizen's arrest. Section 77-7-3 provides that a private person may arrest another when there has been a public offense committed or attempted in his presence or when a felony has been committed and he has reasonable cause to believe the person arrested has committed it. Section 77-7-7 declares that a peace officer can use force in making an

arrest only after the person being arrested flees or forcibly resists after being informed of the intention to make the arrest.

With no state authority for a Colorado bail enforcement agent to make an arrest in Utah, the only remaining arguable authority for making the arrest is found in federal law and was a major issue at the trial as explained below.

In *Taylor v. Taintor*, 89 U.S. 366 (1872) a person was arrested in Connecticut and released upon bail. His bail conditions allowed him to go to New York but, while there, he was arrested and extradited to Maine for a crime. The Connecticut court sought to collect on the bail bond and the surety attempted to avoid paying claiming that it was impossible to now bring the fugitive back. The court considered the nature of a bail bond contract and said in *dicta* that the bond principal or defendant is regarded as having been delivered by the state to the custody of the surety. The surety retains common law power under the bond contract to pursue the defendant into another state for return to the court, so there was no legal impossibility to excuse paying the bond.

An examination of the trial exhibits shows that the Ranger Insurance Company bond forms completed in connection with the Gerald Lee bail recite a right to apprehend Lee. (Plaintiff Trial Exhibit 2, at R., p. 999 in Addendum C).

Finally, of strong importance in this case is Title 31A, Chapter 35, the Bail Bond Surety Licensing Act. In particular, Section 31A-35-601(2) provides that the acts or conduct of any bail bond agent or bail enforcement agent, or bail recovery agent are

considered to be the acts or conduct of the bail bond surety. Put in the context of this case, if Langley worked for Thorpe and Thorpe was an agent for Ranger Insurance Company, the acts of Langley and Thorpe are absolutely imputed to the Ranger Insurance Company.

## **2. Langley Acted Outside the Law.**

The court ruled early on in the trial that the Utah licensing statute would not be used to determine whether Langley had authority to arrest. (TT, R., p. 1187 at 4-7, 9-12). This early ruling, before any evidence was presented, effectively mortally wounded the Plaintiffs' theory of the case, described above. Consistent with that ruling, Jury Instructions no. 25 and 26 were given over the objection of the plaintiff's counsel. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 291, 238, 291-292). Jury instructions proffered by the Plaintiffs were rejected. (See Addendum D. R., pp. 901-906).

The instructions given essentially inform the jury that the law was that if Ranger Insurance delegated authority to apprehend to Miles Langley, Langley had the power to lawfully make an arrest. (R., pp. 1028, 1029 in Addendum D). What the court did, in essence, was apply its understanding of *Taylor v. Taintor* to the effect that if Gerald Lee had entered a contract with the surety then the only issue was whether the surety had authorized Langley to go get Lee. (TT, R., p. 1187 at pp. 215-217).

This view by the court of the authority to arrest also caused the court to dismiss the claim for false imprisonment brought by both Plaintiffs. (TT, R., p. 1187 at 213-216).

There really is no doubt that Miles Langley did not have the power to arrest. As explained above, Utah has a comprehensive set of statutes in place which govern the licensing of a bail enforcement agent and even make it a Class A Misdemeanor to act as a bail enforcement agent without a license in Utah. Appellants are in a very difficult position because they are being asked to prove a negative. That is, when the court dismissed application of Title 53, it shifts conceptually the burden onto the plaintiff to show that there is no bar to an out-of-state person coming into Utah and making a bail arrest. Instead, the District Court should have applied the plain language of Title 53 and required Langley to have a license.

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