2004

# Gerald M. Lee and Gerald Lee v. Miles Walter Langley : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

**POINT I:** The Lees' first issue on appeal suffers from several shortcomings. First, there was ample evidence that Mr. Langley, or any bail recovery agent for that matter, had a legal right to apprehend Gerald Lee as a fugitive from the Colorado court. *Taylor v. Taintor, supra*, confers a common law right upon bail recovery agents to apprehend fugitives who have outstanding arrest warrants. Nothing in the various Utah statutes the Lees cite abrogates that common law right. Additionally, and as an alternative legal basis for apprehending Mr. Lee, he contractually consented to his apprehension when he purchased the bail bonds from A-1.

Second, the Lees completely ignore the facts indicating that Mr. Lee consented to apprehension in their appellate brief. They have failed to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's decision to recognize the plain language of the contract.

Third, the Lees' argument that Judge Payne incorrectly instructed the jury on the law of arrest has not been preserved on appeal. The Lees failed to take exception at trial to the instructions they are now objecting to on appeal



and therefore cannot challenge their validity on appeal.

Fourth, any error on the trial court's part, and there was none, is harmless.

The law on arrest was not pertinent to the jury's consideration of whether Mr. Langley assaulted or recklessly endangered the Lees.

**POINT II:** The trial court did not err in dismissing the Lees' claim for false imprisonment because they did not present any evidence in their case in chief that George Lee was confined or imprisoned or that Mr. Langley apprehended Gerald Lee without a reasonable basis for doing so. They did not take exception to the jury instructions they are challenging on appeal and thus have waived their right to challenge them.

**POINT III:** The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to enter default judgment against Robert Thorpe, particularly when the Lees contended that the legal effect of default judgment would be to instruct the jury that Ranger was liable to the Lees for all claims. Again, the Lees ignored their duty to marshal the evidence supporting the judge's ruling in this regard, and this Court should therefore affirm the ruling.

**POINT IV:** The trial court's ruling that George Lee could not testify as to what he allegedly heard Miles Langley say in another court proceeding was correct because the testimony was unreliable hearsay and was otherwise inadmissible. Even if the trial court had allowed the testimony, it would not have changed the outcome of the case. Whether Mr. Langley had a Utah

bail recovery license had no bearing on whether he assaulted or recklessly endangered the Lees.

**POINT V:** The trial court properly excluded from evidence a document containing cryptic handwriting, purportedly showing that Mr. Thorpe paid Mr. Langley for apprehending Gerald Lee. The document constituted hearsay. In any event, the Lees achieved their objective of introducing evidence that Mr. Thorpe hired Mr. Langley through other means, including Gerald Lee's testimony that he witnessed Mr. Thorpe hand Mr. Langley cash, and Mr. Langley's testimony that Mr. Thorpe paid him for apprehending Mr. Lee. If the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to admit this document, there is no harmful error because the jury did not reach the issue of whether Mr. Langley acted within the scope of any authority delegated by A-1.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE LEES' CONTENTION THAT GERALD LEE COULD NOT BE APPREHENDED DEFIES COMMON SENSE, COMMON LAW, AND CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS.**

Gerald Lee had two outstanding warrants for his arrest in Colorado in 1999. He would have been required to remain in jail in Colorado until his court hearings had A-1 not issued him bail bonds releasing him from the court's custody into A-1's custody. In exchange for his freedom, he agreed that if he failed to show up for court hearings, A-1 could apprehend him. He agreed that if he left Colorado, he could be apprehended. He

further promised that if he were apprehended by A-1, he would voluntarily agree to return to Colorado. Finally, he consented to the use of reasonable force against him to assure his return to Colorado. (R. 999, Exhibit 2).

The Lees' assertion that he was immune from apprehension and was absolved from answering for his criminal offenses because he crossed state lines defies common sense. Their contention that Judge Payne misinterpreted the law of arrest overlooks longstanding common law permitting bail recovery agents to cross state lines to apprehend fugitives, and it ignores that Mr. Lee contractually consented to apprehension.

**A. There Were Ample Legal Bases for Apprehending Mr. Lee.**

The focus of the Lees' first issue on appeal is whether Mr. Langley was licensed as a bail recovery agent in Utah. They complain that they should have been able to introduce hearsay evidence that he did not have a Utah license because they missed their opportunity to ask him when they deposed him whether he was licensed in Utah. They believe that if he was not licensed in Utah, he had no authority to apprehend Mr. Lee, but this is incorrect in many respects.

Significantly, there is nothing in the tangled statutory web they cite (Utah Code Ann. §§53-11-101, *et seq.*, §§31A-35-601, *et seq.* and §§77-20-1, *et seq.*) suggesting that a bail recovery agent who is duly licensed in another state cannot enter Utah to apprehend a fugitive. The Lees repeatedly assert on appeal that the statutes prohibit the apprehension of an individual in Utah by someone who is not licensed in Utah, but they are unable to point to any statutory provision that says this. Instead, the statutes appear to

govern bail bond sureties, bail bond agencies, and bail bond recovery agents who reside in and operate businesses in Utah. The statutes do not address, and were not meant to address, out-of-state sureties or recovery agents who must pursue a fugitive in Utah pursuant to a valid arrest warrant from another state.

While the statutes the Lees rely upon do not deal with the situation that arose in this case, Mr. Langley testified that he had apprehended fugitives in Utah on several prior occasions without incident. On this occasion, he informed local law enforcement authorities that he was apprehending Mr. Lee pursuant to valid Colorado arrest warrants. The Utah authorities did not stop Mr. Langley or inquire if he was licensed in Utah; instead, they acknowledged his authority to apprehend Mr. Lee and directed Mr. Langley to his whereabouts.

There were two separate legal bases for Mr. Lee to be apprehended in Utah. First, the U.S. Supreme Court stated in *Taylor v. Taintor*, 83 U.S. 366 (1872) that

[w]hen bail is given, the principal [fugitive] is regarded as delivered to the custody of his sureties. Their dominion is a continuance of the original imprisonment. Whenever they choose to do so, they may seize him and deliver him up in their discharge . . . . They may pursue him into another State; may arrest him on the Sabbath; and if necessary, may break and enter his house for that purpose.

*Taylor v. Taintor*, 83 U.S. at 371. Ms. Thorpe testified that *Taylor v. Taintor* gives bail bond agents the authority to apprehend fugitives, and to enter another state to do so. (R. 1187, p. 254, M. Thorpe depo. p. 13). Judge Payne reviewed *Taylor v. Taintor* during the trial and observed that it confers a common law right for a bail recovery agent to enter Utah to act upon an arrest warrant. (R. 1187, p. 215).

The Lees downplay *Taylor v. Taintor* by referring to a few cases from other jurisdictions in which the courts determined under different circumstances that state statutes could override the common law. For example, the court in *Walker v. Commonwealth*, 127 S.W.3d 596 (Ky. 2004), concerned a bondsman who detained an individual in Kentucky without an arrest warrant, in violation of Kentucky law prohibiting a bondsman from detaining without a warrant. In this case, there were two valid arrest warrants for Gerald Lee, and Utah's bail recovery statutes are different from Kentucky's. The case of *Green v. State*, 829 S.W.2d 222 (Texas App. 1992), is inapposite because the Texas court concluded that the state legislature intended to abrogate *Taylor v. Taintor* by passing laws that squarely contradicted it. The Lees cannot point to any Utah statute that contradicts the common law principle of apprehension in another state set forth in *Taylor v. Taintor*. The court in *Johnson v. County of Kittitas*, 11 P.3d 862 (Wash.Ct.App. 2001), merely expressed its view that *Taylor v. Taintor* contains dicta but also acknowledges that "it is generally understood to be the seminal authority on the bond surety's common law authority to seize and surrender the principal...." *Johnson*, 11 P.3d. at 864. Finally, the court in *McFarland v. State*, 666 N.W. 2d 621 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003), simply noted that *Taylor v. Taintor* did not allow a bondsman to break into the home he mistakenly thought housed a fugitive.

Even if Utah statute supplanted *Taylor v. Taintor*, which it does not, there was a separate legal basis permitting Mr. Lee's apprehension. Mr. Lee freely signed a contract

in which he agreed and consented to apprehension. He acknowledged that by purchasing the bail bonds he was submitting himself to the custody of A-1. The Bail Bond Application & Contract plainly states that if he commits any act that could cause forfeiture of the bond, he can be apprehended; he was aware that his failure to appear for the Colorado court hearings constituted forfeiture of the bond, he acknowledged receiving a Notice of Forfeiture from the Rio Blanco court stating that the bond could be forfeited for his failure to appear at the December 1998 court hearing. The contract he signed additionally provides that if he leaves Colorado, he agrees that he can be apprehended and brought back to Colorado. He has never alleged that these terms are somehow invalid or unenforceable.

There was ample reason for the trial court to determine that it did not matter whether Mr. Langley was licensed as a bail recovery agent in Utah. The judge's conclusion that Mr. Lee could be apprehended was supported by common law and contract law, as well as the common sense notion that those who try to evade the law by leaving one state for another can be brought to justice.

**B. The Lees Did Not Marshal the Evidence Showing the Contractual Basis for Apprehending Mr. Lee.**

When, as here, appellants dispute a ruling that is based on factual findings, they must marshal the evidence supporting the ruling and show that such evidence cannot support the ruling. *Water & Energy Systems Technology, Inc. v. Keil*, 48 P.3d 888 (Utah 2002). Failure to marshal the evidence means the reviewing court will not disturb the trial court's ruling on appeal. *Neely v. Bennett*, 519 P.3d 724 (Utah Ct. App. 2002).

The Bail Bond Application & Contract was admitted in evidence in its entirety at trial, and Mr. Lee conceded that he signed it. The Lees did not present any testimony at trial to undermine the validity of this document. Perhaps because of this, the Lees barely acknowledge its existence on appeal, instead claiming that *Taylor v. Taintor* is a relic. The Lees have failed to present, “in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists; after constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence, and the gravity of that flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court’s finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.” *Neely v. Bennett*, 51 P.3d at 727. Therefore, the Lees cannot prevail on their first issue on appeal.

**C. The Lees Did Not Preserve This Issue for Appeal.**

The Lees claim that the trial court’s alleged error in misapplying the law on arrest culminated in its refusal to give their requested jury instructions on this subject. The two jury instructions they claim should have been read are “Utah law requires a bail bond recovery agent to operate only when licensed by the state of Utah,” and citizens “without law enforcement authority” can make arrests in certain circumstances. (Appellants’ Addendum 53-54). The first jury instruction does not accurately reflect the law, and it was irrelevant because there was no evidence Mr. Langley was not licensed in Utah. The second jury instruction was not read because there was no evidence Mr. Langley made an arrest without law enforcement authority.

The Lees did not take exception to the trial court's refusal to read these instructions to the jury. Trial counsel must formally make exceptions to jury instructions on the record, before the jury retires to deliberate on the evidence. *Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Mining Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997). It does not appear from the trial court transcript that exceptions were conducted. The parties discussed proposed jury instructions with Judge Payne in his chambers on February 3, 2004 (R. 1187, pp. 291-307), but this discussion did not include formal exceptions or any objections to specific instructions, and the Lees' counsel states on the record that exceptions would occur later. (R. 1187, p. 307). The next reference to jury instructions in the trial transcript comes the next morning, before Judge Payne read the instructions to the jury. The Lees' counsel states at that point that there are no objections to the jury instructions. (R. 1187, p. 310).

Failure to take exception to a jury instruction with specificity precludes the party from objecting on appeal that the instructions were defective. *Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Mining Corp.*, 944 P.2d at 359. "[T]o assert that the trial court erred in either giving or failing to give an instruction, a party must first submit correct instructions and then, should the court fail to give them, timely except." *Paulos v. Covenant Transport, Inc.*, 86 P.3d 752, 754 (Utah Ct. App. 2004), *citation omitted*.

**D. Whether Mr. Langley had Legal Authority to Apprehend Mr. Lee was not Relevant to the Jury's Verdict, So Any Error was Harmless.**

Even if the trial court had permitted the Lees to present evidence that Mr. Langley was not licensed in Utah, and even if the jury heard instructions to the effect that an individual cannot be apprehended unless the person apprehending him is licensed in Utah



as a bail recovery agent, that would not have changed the outcome at trial. The jury quickly disposed of the Lees' lawsuit by finding that the Lees were not assaulted or recklessly endangered. Authority to arrest had nothing to do with their claims for assault or reckless endangerment; rather, it pertained to their false imprisonment claim. The Lees' counsel conceded that "[t]he licensing law has very little to do with the liability of this case except that it establishes an element of false imprison[ment in] that there was unlawful activity of the arrest, if you will, the detaining was not based in law." (R. 1187, p. 20).

An appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that a trial court error was harmful, that is, "that there is a reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings." *Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corp.*, 820 P.2d 482, 489-90 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). In *Steffensen*, the plaintiff challenged the trial court's reading of the defendant's jury instruction on foreseeability, which pertained to her negligence claim. Although the appellate court determined that the trial court should not have read the instruction, it noted that the jury found the defendant was negligent, so the reading of the erroneous instruction was harmless. *Steffensen*, 820 P.2d at 490; *see also Albrecht v. Bennett*, 44 P.3d 838 (Utah Ct. App. 2002) (error that does not affect outcome of case is harmless and will not warrant reversal).

The law of arrest did not pertain to the claims presented to the jury. If the trial court had read the Lees' requested instructions to the jury, it would not have changed the result.

## **POINT II**

### **THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DISMISSED THE FALSE IMPRISONMENT CLAIM FOR LACK OF EVIDENCE**

Since the Lees were unable to assemble evidence in their case in chief that Mr. Langley falsely imprisoned them, the trial court granted Ranger's motion for partial directed verdict against their false imprisonment claim. The Lees had the burden of showing that (1) Mr. Langley acted, intending to confine or restrain the Lees; (2) his actions resulted in the Lees' confinement or restraint; (3) the Lees were conscious of or were harmed by the confinement or restraint; and (4) Mr. Langley acted without having reasonable grounds to believe Mr. Lee committed an offense. (R. 903).

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